**STATE OF MICHIGAN
IN THE SUPREME COURT**

Appeal from the Michigan Court of Appeals
(Meter, P.J., and Gadola and Tukel, JJ.)

ANTHONY HART,

MSC No: 159539

Plaintiff-Appellant,

COA No: 338171

v.

Ct of Claims No: 16-000212-MM

STATE OF MICHIGAN, acting through
the Michigan Department of State Police,

Defendant-Appellee.

**PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT *CORRECTED* BRIEF ON APPEAL
ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED**

GOODMAN HURWITZ & JAMES, P.C.

By: William H. Goodman (P14173)

Julie H. Hurwitz (P34720)

1394 E. Jefferson Avenue

Detroit, Michigan 48207

(313) 567-6170/Fax: (313) 567-4827

mail@goodmanhurwitz.com

STEVEN T. BUDAJ, P.C.

By: Steven T. Budaj (P30154)

65 Cadillac Square, Suite 2915

INTRODUCTION

The Court of Appeals' February 7, 2019 Opinion and Order contains glaring errors, including, but not limited to the misinterpretation of established United States Supreme Court precedent and, consequently the application of the wrong standard for determining municipal (and State of Michigan) liability for the deprivation of constitutional rights. Plaintiff-Appellant seeks this Honorable Court's reversal of the Court of Appeals' decision on a number of grounds set forth in the Michigan Court Rules.

Because, the decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts with United States Supreme Court precedent, it is clearly erroneous and will cause material injustice, not only to Plaintiff-Appellant Hart, but, if allowed to stand as precedent in this state, for all future plaintiffs alleging violations of their constitutional rights by the State of Michigan. Plaintiff-Appellant respectfully asks that this Honorable Court reverse the Court of Appeals' opinion below and rectify the jurisprudence of this state, insofar as the issues addressed herein are concerned.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

In 2001, Plaintiff-Appellant Anthony Hart (hereinafter "Plaintiff" or "Hart") was adjudicated in Hillsdale County Juvenile Court on a violation of MCL § 750.520(e)—fourth degree criminal sexual conduct (CSC)—for an incident that took place when he was 16 years old. (Appx. I, p. 5a at ¶14). Hart was convicted

and designated a “Tier II” sex offender which, at that time, pursuant to Michigan’s Sex Offenders Registration Act (SORA) MCL § 28.721 *et seq.*, required him to report and register his address bi-annually for 25 years. (Appx. I, p. 5a at ¶15). In 2011, the Michigan Legislature amended the SORA such that, effective July 1, 2011, Tier II offenders who had previously been adjudicated as juveniles, like Hart, were no longer required or expected to register. (Appx. I, p. 5 at ¶16). *See* 2011 PA 17, 18, Eff. July 1, 2011.

Accordingly, the names of these offenders, including that of Plaintiff Hart, were to be removed from the Sex Offender Registry (hereinafter “SOR” or “registry”) by the Michigan State Police (“MSP”), acting through its agents and/or officials responsible for maintaining the registry. (Appx. I, pp. 5a-6a at ¶¶18-20). However, the MSP took no action to remove Hart’s name from the registry; consequently, and in violation of its statutory obligations as set forth in MCL § 28.725a(1), the MSP also failed to inform Hart that he was no longer required to register. (Appx. I, pp. 5a-6a at ¶ 18-21). Hart, therefore, continued to register as a sex offender with his local registering authorities from July 2011 through July 2013. (Appx. I, p. 6a at ¶22).

On July 5, 2013, Plaintiff Hart mistakenly registered his address as 79 Budlong, as opposed to 76 Budlong, in Hillsdale, Michigan. (Appx. I, pp. 7a-8a at

¶¶29-30).¹ As a result of this unintentional numerical error, Hart was arrested and subsequently charged with violating the SORA. (Appx. I, p. 8a at ¶31). On August 14, 2013, on the faulty advice of his then-defense counsel, Hart entered a plea of *nolo contendere* and was found guilty of one count of failing to register, in violation of Section 9 of SORA—a law that did not apply to him by virtue of the fact that the 2011 amendment to SORA exempted Hart from the registration requirement. (Appx. I, pp. 8a-9a at ¶37). He was ordered to pay a fine. *Id.*

In January 2014, Hart was once again wrongfully arrested for failing to comply with SORA reporting duties. (Appx. I, p. 9a at ¶¶41-42). On February 10, 2014, MSP agent Marci Kelley, acting pursuant to the customs, policies and/or practices of the State of Michigan, attested to the supposed validity of Hart’s purported “Sex Offender Registry Certified Record,” without first checking to see whether Hart may have been exempted from the SOR by the 2011 legislative amendment. Kelley then transmitted this flawed “Certified Record” to the Hillsdale City Police, thereby “establishing” the requisite probable cause needed to prosecute Hart for violating his obligations under the SORA. (Appx. I, p. 10a at ¶45). This purported “Sex Offender Registry Certified Record” falsely stated that Hart was still required to report and register on a semi-annual basis until February 20, 2054. (*Id.*,

¹ Plaintiff Hart was actually homeless at the time and staying in a treehouse in the backyard of an acquaintance who lived at 76 Budlong in Hillsdale. (Appx. I, p. 8a at ¶30).

at ¶47). Thus, not only did this “Certified Record” falsely declare that Hart was required to register, but it stated an end-date that would have required him to register for a period of 52 years, 4 months and 17 days (a registration period that does not, and did not, exist under the SORA under any circumstances).² (*Id.*, at ¶¶45, 47). Again, due to the faulty advice of Plaintiff’s then-defense counsel and the failure of the MSP to notify him that he was no longer required to register as a sex offender, as it was required to do, Plaintiff Hart pleaded guilty to the felony of failure to report and register. (*Id.*, at ¶48). On March 17, 2014, Hart was sentenced to 16-24 months in a Michigan state correctional facility and ordered to pay \$1,026.94 in fines, costs, and restitution. (*Id.*, at ¶¶48-49).

In August 2015, an agent of the Michigan Department of Corrections (MDOC) became aware that Hart was imprisoned for a non-existent crime and notified the MSP. (Appx. I, p. 11 at ¶51). On August 25, 2015, Hillsdale County Circuit Court Judge Michael Smith vacated Hart’s 2014 guilty plea, conviction and sentence and the following day, Hart was released from prison. (*Id.*, at ¶¶54-55). On

² This registration end-date had been inexplicably altered from a 2010 version of Hart’s “Sex Offender Registry Certified Record,” also produced and transmitted by Kelley, which listed the registration end date as August 3, 2026. The “Verification Frequency” on Hart’s “Sex Offender Registration Certified Record” was similarly altered from “Quarterly” in a 2010 version, to “Semi-annually” in the version transmitted by Kelley on February 10, 2014. This unexplained inconsistency not only constitutes another reason why the SOR was very obviously false and unreliable, but it also raises questions as to why, in what manner, and according to what policy, Hart’s data was tampered with. It underscores the need (and right of Plaintiff) to conduct discovery.

November 17, 2015, Hart's 2013 guilty plea, conviction and sentence were also vacated. (*Id.*, at ¶56).

As a direct result of MSP's deliberate decisions, including its deliberate propagation of a SOR that it knew to be highly flawed, Plaintiff Hart was mistakenly, unlawfully, and punitively listed on Michigan's Sex Offender Registry for over four years after it was mandated, by law, that he be removed. This listing constituted punishment in a variety of ways, including, but not limited to: being defamatory; commanding Hart's presence at law enforcement agencies for reporting purposes; limiting the locations where Hart could live and work; twice causing Hart's arrest, prosecution, and conviction; and causing Hart to be incarcerated for 17 months³—all for a non-existent crime.

Plaintiff Hart commenced the instant action against Defendant State of Michigan (hereinafter, "Defendant" or "the State") in the Michigan Court of Claims on August 24, 2016,⁴ alleging violations of Article 1, §§ 11 and 17 of the Michigan Constitution. (Appx. I, pp. 1a-21a). On December 5, 2016, Defendant filed a motion for summary disposition under MCR 2.116(C)(7) and (C)(8), arguing that Hart's

³ Plaintiff's Verified Amended Complaint mistakenly stated that Plaintiff had spent 19 months in jail, calculating the time from the date of his arrest—January 23, 2014—rather than the day of his sentencing—March 17, 2014.

⁴ Plaintiff Hart inadvertently commenced this action with a Complaint that was not verified. (Appx. I, p. 1a). He filed a Verified Amended Complaint on October 12, 2016. All references to the Complaint herein, refer to the Verified Amended Complaint. (Appx. I, pp. 2a-21a).

claim for damages was barred by sovereign immunity; and, that even if not so precluded, Hart's claim would nonetheless fail "because it is not based on any actual unconstitutional policy or custom of the State agency [but rather] premised upon the *failure* to follow law and policy." (Appx. I, p. 32a, Def's Motion for Summary Disposition, p.8 [emphasis in original]). On April 12, 2017, Court of Claims Judge Cynthia Stephens issued a well-reasoned opinion denying the State's motion (Appx. I, pp. 67a-74a), which Defendant appealed to the Michigan Court of Appeals. (Appx. I, pp. 75a-98a). On February 7, 2019, the Court of Appeals entered an order reversing the Court of Claims and remanding the case for the entry of summary disposition in favor of Defendant. (Appx. I, pp. 132a-140a).

The Court of Appeals agreed with Plaintiff Hart and affirmed the Court of Claims' finding that sovereign immunity is not a defense to constitutional tort claims (Appx. I, p. 136a). However, it erroneously determined that Hart "ha[d] not alleged sufficient facts to have stated a claim upon which relief can be granted." (Appx. I, pp. 139a-140a). As will be fully explained below, the latter finding is clearly erroneous and would cause material injustice to Plaintiff Hart if not reversed.

On February 28, 2019, Plaintiff filed a timely Motion for Reconsideration, which the Court of Appeals denied in a one-line Order dated March 22, 2019. (Appx. II, pp. 261a-275a, 283a). Pursuant to this Court's September 25, 2019 Order Granting Leave to Appeal, Plaintiff Hart now urges this Honorable Court to reverse

that part of the Court of Appeals' Opinion and Order that erroneously found that he had failed to state a claim under MCR 2.116(C)(8).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Appellate review of the grant or denial of a motion for summary disposition is *de novo*. *Maiden v Rozwood*, 461 Mich 109, 118; 597 NW2d 817 (1999). A motion for summary disposition under MCR 2.116(C)(8) tests the legal sufficiency of the complaint to determine whether the plaintiff has stated a claim on which relief can be granted. *Id.* When deciding a motion under MCR 2.116(c)(8), the court must accept as true all well-pleaded factual allegations and construe them in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. *White v Beasley*, 453 Mich 308, 313; 552 NW2d 1, 2 (1996). Summary disposition on the basis of MCR 2.116(C)(8) “may be granted only where the claims alleged are ‘so clearly unenforceable as a matter of law that no factual development could possibly justify recovery.’” *Gerling Konzern Allgemeine Versicherungs AG v Lawson*, 472 Mich 44, 49; 693 NW2d 149, 151 (2005), quoting *Maiden*, 461 Mich at 119; 597 NW2d 817.

ANALYSIS

The Court of Appeals' finding that Plaintiff Hart failed to allege sufficient facts to state a claim upon which relief could be granted (Appx. I, pp. 139a-140a) is based on a misapprehension of Plaintiff's claims and of the applicable law, in particular *Canton v Harris*, 489 US 378, 389; 109 S Ct 1197, 1205; 103 L Ed 2d 412

(1989) and *Board of Comm'rs of Bryan Cty v Brown*, 520 US 397, 409; 117 S Ct 1382, 1391; 137 L Ed 2d 626 (1997), as well as a failure to consider certain claims asserted by Plaintiff. Correcting these errors will necessarily result in a reversal of the Court of Appeals Order.

I. **THE COURT OF APPEALS ERRED IN DETERMINING THAT THERE IS NO CAUSAL LINK BETWEEN THE MSP'S FAILURE TO TRAIN ITS EMPLOYEES AND THE VIOLATION OF PLAINTIFF'S CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS.**

In its February 7, 2019 Opinion and Order, the Court of Appeals determined that, because being listed on the SOR does not guarantee with “moral certainty” that one will be arrested, there is no direct causal link between the MSP’s failure to appropriately train its employees in SORA developments, and the constitutional violations suffered by Hart (Appx. I, p. 139a).

This assertion is based on two glaring errors in the intermediate court’s analysis. First, the Court of Appeals misconstrued and misapplied the standard for establishing liability for inadequate training or supervision, under the “single violation” theory articulated by the United States Supreme Court in *Canton v Harris*, *supra* and affirmed in *Bryan County v Brown*, *supra*. Second, the Court of Appeals completely failed to recognize that simply being erroneously kept on the SOR, in and of itself, constitutes punishment in violation of an individual’s constitutional rights; arrest is not required.

A. The Court of Appeals Misstated the Applicable Standard and Consequently Failed to Follow the Standard Established by the United States Supreme Court in *Canton v Harris* and Affirmed in *Bryan County*.

It is well established that inadequate training or supervision of employees may serve as a basis for municipal liability “where the failure to train amounts to deliberate indifference to the rights of persons with whom the [governmental officials] come into contact.” *Canton v Harris*, 489 US at 388. The United States Supreme Court articulated two ways in which such deliberate indifference can be shown: (1) by evidence that the governmental entity failed to act in response to repeated complaints of constitutional violations by its officers, *see Connick v Thompson*, 563 US 51, 61-62; 131 S Ct 1350, 1360; 179 L Ed 2d 417 (2011); or (2) by evidence of a failure to provide adequate training in light of foreseeable consequences that could result from a lack of instruction. *Id.*, at 63-64, citing *Canton*, 489 US at 390, n 10. In the context of the latter, the United States Supreme Court opined that “a single violation of federal rights, accompanied by a showing that a municipality has failed to train its employees to handle recurring situations presenting an obvious potential for such a violation, could trigger municipal liability.” *Bryan Cty v Brown*, 520 US at 409, citing *Canton*, at 390, n 10. In other words, where the unconstitutional consequences of failing to train is so patently obvious, a governmental entity can be liable under 42 USC § 1983 without proof of a pre-existing pattern of violations.

In this case, there may well have been repeated constitutional rights violations resulting from the MSP's failure to train its employees and implement other measures to ensure that the names of persons who were no longer supposed to be listed on the SOR were properly removed. However, as Defendant moved for summary disposition on the pleadings, pursuant to MCR 2.116(C)(8), there has yet to be any discovery in this case. Consequently, Plaintiff has not been permitted the opportunity, through discovery, to establish a pattern of violations and misconduct resulting from Defendant's failure to train its employees and implement other obvious and necessary measures. Plaintiff should be permitted to pursue discovery to uncover other such violations, and thereby further establish Defendant's requisite deliberate indifference to his constitutional rights. *See Walker v City of New York*, 974 F2d 293, 300 (2d Cir 1992).

Notwithstanding the above, Plaintiff properly asserted a failure to train claim based on the "single violation" theory for establishing municipal liability. (Appx. I, pp. 16a-18a, at ¶¶78-84). However, the Court of Appeals failed to properly apply the standard articulated by the United States Supreme Court in the landmark case of *Canton v Harris*, *supra* and *Bryan Cty v Brown*, *supra* and, consequently, wrongly determined that Hart failed to allege a "*direct and obvious causal link*" between Defendant's failure to train and the deprivation of Plaintiff's constitutional rights

that demonstrates “deliberate indifference.” (Appx. I, pp. 139a-140a). According to the Court of Appeals,

the alleged failure to train MSP employees in this SORA context does not carry the same obvious or clear dangers of a constitutional violation [as the fleeing felon example given in *Canton*]. That is because the failure to train employees on how to update the SORA after pertinent legislative changes does not possess the same direct causal link to a constitutional violation, being illegally arrested.

(Appx. I, p. 139a).

The Court of Appeals went on to explain that erroneously being kept on the SOR did not bring with it the certainty of false arrest, because a person wrongly listed on the SOR would only be arrested if he or she “failed to keep the SOR updated with a correct address.” (Appx. I, p. 139a). The Court opined:

[t]his is distinguishable from the fleeing felon example in *Canton* because it is not “a moral certainty” or “patently obvious” that people who are on the SOR (properly or not) will fail to keep the SOR updated and be arrested as a result. But on the contrary, it is commonly and readily understood that felons do indeed flee from the police.

(*Id.*).

This analysis is flawed on a number of levels. First, persons listed on the SOR cannot avoid arrest simply by ensuring that the SOR is updated with their correct address. Such a statement greatly understates the significant obligations and tight restrictions with which a registrant is burdened, as well as the heavy consequences the registrant faces if these obligations and restrictions are not adhered to. *See* MCL 28.724a, 725, 725(a), 727, 728(a) and 729; *see also Does #1-5 v Snyder*, 834 F3d

696, 703 (6th Cir 2016), *cert den* 138 S Ct 55 (2017). For example, a registrant is subject to penalty under any of the following circumstances, among many others:

1. Failing to report to a local registering authority within a limited window of time (MCL 28.725a[3], [4], and [9]);
2. Failing to pay the annual registration fee (MCL 28.725a[6] and [9]);
3. Neglecting to report, immediately, and in-person, the buying or selling of a vehicle (MCL 28.725);
4. Being found living or working within 1,000 feet of a school (MCL 28.734); and
5. Making a *one*-digit mistake in the address reported to authorities, as occurred in this case. MCL 28.725; 2011 PA 17, 18.

Therefore, SOR registrants do not merely have to make sure they “keep the SOR updated with the correct address” in order to avoid arrest and prosecution, as was stated by the Court of Appeals. (Appx. I, p. 139a). Rather, a person erroneously listed on the SOR can be subject to false arrest if he or she inadvertently neglects to report a new job or if that new job location happens to be 950 feet from a schoolyard. MCL 28.725 and 28.734; *see Does #1-5 v Snyder*, 834 F3d at 697-98 (summarizing the developments in Michigan’s Sex Offender Registration Act).

More significantly, however, the Court of Appeals applied the wrong standard in its analysis. The court determined that there was no direct causal link between Defendant’s failure to appropriately train its agents following pertinent legislative amendments to the SOR and the constitutional violations suffered by Hart, because

it is not “‘a moral certainty’ or ‘patently obvious’ that people who are on the SOR ... will fail to keep the SOR updated and be arrested as a result.” (Appx. I, p. 139a). As explained below, this is not the standard that was articulated by the United States Supreme Court in *Canton v Harris* and affirmed in *Bryan County*.

1. *Canton v Harris*

The phrase “moral certainty” comes from a footnote in *Canton v Harris*, 489 US 378, 389, n 10; 109 S Ct 1197, 1205; 103 L Ed 2d 412 (1989). In *Canton*, police officers were given broad discretion to determine whether police prisoners required medical attention; but they were given no training as to how to employ that discretion. *Id.*, at 381-82. This lack of training, it was alleged, resulted in at least one mishap—that which befell Ms. Harris. *Id.* The standard by which liability should be determined for the alleged lack of training resulting in a single incident of a constitutional violation was addressed by the Court, to wit:

[I]t may happen that in light of the duties assigned to specific officers or employees the need for more or different training is so obvious, and the inadequacy so likely to result in the violation of constitutional rights, that the policymakers of the city can reasonably be said to have been deliberately indifferent to the need.

Id., at 390. This standard was then footnoted by the Court with an example of a situation that would present such an obvious need for certain training, that the failure of a municipality to provide it could reflect deliberate indifference, even absent a pattern of violations—the “fleeing felon” example. The Supreme Court opined that,

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