STATE OF MICHIGAN  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

ANTHONY HART,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v

STATE OF MICHIGAN, acting through the  
Michigan Department of State Police,

Defendant-Appellee.

---

Supreme Court No. 159539

Court of Appeals No. 338171

Court of Claims No. 16-212-MM

**BRIEF ON APPEAL OF APPELLEE STATE OF MICHIGAN**

**ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED**

Joseph T. Froehlich (P71887)  
Assistant Attorney General  
Attorney for Defendant-Appellee  
State of Michigan  
State Operations Division  
P.O. Box 30736  
Lansing, MI 48909  
(517) 335-7573

Dated: January 23, 2020

**

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

As explained by the U.S. Supreme Court in *Canton*:

To adopt lesser standards of fault and causation would open municipalities to unprecedented liability under § 1983. In virtually every instance where a person has had his or her constitutional rights violated by a city employee, a § 1983 plaintiff will be able to point to something the city “could have done” to prevent the unfortunate incident. See *Oklahoma City v. Tuttle*, 471 U.S., at 823, 105 S.Ct. at 2436 (opinion of REHNQUIST, J.).

Thus, permitting cases against cities for their “failure to train” employees to go forward under [§ 1983](#) on a lesser standard of fault would result in *de facto respondeat superior* liability on municipalities—a result we rejected in *Monell*, 436 U.S., at 693–694, 98 S.Ct., at 2037. It would also engage the federal courts in an endless exercise of second-guessing municipal employee-training programs. [*Canton*, 489 US at 391–392 (paragraph break added).]

In *Bryan Co*, the U.S. Supreme Court again cautioned that a government may not be held liable simply because it employs a tortfeasor. 520 US at 403. “Where a plaintiff claims that the government has not directly inflicted an injury, but nonetheless has caused an employee to do so, rigorous standards of culpability and causation must be applied to ensure that the municipality is not held liable solely for the actions of its employee.” *Id.* at 405, citing *Canton*, 489 US at 391–392. The Court recognized that “the existence of a pattern of tortious conduct by inadequately trained employees may tend to show that the lack of proper training, rather than a one-time negligent administration of the program or factors peculiar to the officer involved in a particular incident, is the ‘moving force’ behind the plaintiff’s injury.” *Bryan Co*, 520 US at 407–408, citing *Canton*, 489 US at 390–391.

But where a claim of governmental liability rests on a single action rather than a pattern of conduct, “the danger that [the government] will be held liable without fault is high.” *Bryan Co*, 520 US at 408. Nevertheless, the Court in *Bryan Co* recognized the possibility of a “narrow range of circumstances” where a constitutional violation may be a “highly predictable consequence” of a failure to train or supervise reflective of deliberate indifference. *Id.* at 409. *Canton* described such circumstances to be where the need for training or supervision is so obvious

that constitutional violations flowing from the failure to train or supervise are a “moral certainty.” *Canton*, 489 US at 390 n 10.

In sum, a government’s culpability for a deprivation of rights is at its most tenuous where a claim turns on a failure to train. *Connick*, 563 US at 61, citing *Oklahoma City v Tuttle*, 471 US 808, 822 (plurality opinion) (“[A] ‘policy’ of ‘inadequate training’ ” is “far more nebulous, and a good deal further removed from the constitutional violation, than was the policy in *Monell* ”). Where a plaintiff claims a constitutional injury occurring as the result of a failure to train or supervise police employees, a plaintiff faces an uphill battle in establishing governmental liability.

Official municipal policy includes the decisions of a government’s lawmakers, the acts of its policymaking officials, and practices so persistent and widespread as to practically have the force of law. *Monell*, 436 US at 691. It is not enough to simply identify conduct attributable to the government. Rather, a plaintiff must identify deliberate action by the government itself that is the moving force behind the alleged injury. *Canton*, 489 US at 385; *Bryan Co.* 520 US at 403. Courts must be careful not to impose liability on the government solely for the tortious acts of employees. *Id.* Negligent administration of a program will not suffice. *Bryan Co.*, 520 US at 407–408, citing *Canton*, 489 US at 390–391. That is basically the gravamen of Hart’s complaint here, nothing more than the negligent administration of the registry.

In nearly all cases, a plaintiff must demonstrate a pattern of constitutional violations to establish a policy or custom. *Bryan Co.* at 407–409. Policymakers’ “continued adherence to an approach that they know or should know has failed to prevent tortious conduct by employees may establish the conscious disregard for the consequences of their action—the ‘deliberate indifference’—necessary to trigger [governmental] liability.” *Id.* at 407. “Without notice that a course of training is deficient in a particular respect, decisionmakers can hardly be said to have deliberately chosen a training program that will cause violations of constitutional rights.” *Connick*, 563 US at 64.

In the absence of a pattern of constitutional violations, the Court in *Bryan Co* left open the rare possibility that a plaintiff could demonstrate deliberate indifference where there is a direct and obvious causal link between the failure to train and the deprivation of constitutional rights such that constitutional violations were a “highly predictable consequence.” *Connick*, 563 US at 64; *Bryan Co*, 520 US at 409; *Canton*, 489 US at 390 n 10. Such a direct and obvious causal link are only possible “in a narrow range of circumstances.” *Bryan Co*, 520 US at 409. Strict standards of fault and causation will apply. *Canton*, 489 US at 391-392. In other words, in rare cases, the unconstitutional consequences of failing to train could be so patently obvious that a constitutional violation is a “moral certainty.” Hart cannot meet this onerous standard.

**B. The Court of Appeals properly construed Hart’s constitutional tort claims as being premised on the alleged failure to train or supervise employees.**

Of the seven allegations in the complaint that Hart claims amount to customs, practices, and policies of the State, four specifically mention the State’s alleged failure to train. (App pp 16a–17a, ¶ 80 a–d.) Although the next three do not specifically mention a failure to train or supervise, the allegations are fairly read as describing the result of the alleged failure to properly supervise and train employees who improperly maintained and operated registry. (App pp 16a–17a, ¶ 80 e–g.)

Here, Hart insists that the Court of Appeals did not consider his allegations that the State failed to properly institute proper procedures to ensure the accuracy of the sex offender registry, and that the State actively propagated and published a flawed registry as a result. But the Court did consider these allegations and concluded that the allegations were tantamount to allegations of failure to train and supervise. *Hart*, slip opinion at 6 (App p 137a.)

Indeed, the analysis of the Court of Appeals recognizes that an institutional defendant such as the State of Michigan can only maintain the sex offender registry through the actions of State agents and employees. As a result, the Court of Appeals properly concluded that Hart’s allegations could only be construed as allegations that the State failed to train or supervise its employees and agents such that the registry was improperly maintained. Thus, to the extent that court rested its analysis on its finding that Hart only alleged a failure to train, supervise or discipline employees, there was no error.

Further, with respect to the allegations of failure to train, there is another basis for the denial of Hart’s claim under *Canton* and *Bryan Co* that was not articulated by the Court of Appeals. *Canton* states that to properly be considered a “policy or custom,” the failure to train must reflect a deliberate or conscious choice by the government. *Canton*, 489 US at 389. But Hart does not allege any facts reflecting a deliberate or conscious choice by the government. Instead, Hart makes only conclusory allegations that the State failed to train employees regarding maintenance of the Registry, and no facts whatsoever to support the conclusion that the State made a deliberate or conscious choice regarding the alleged failures to train and supervise. If anything, the allegations of Hart’s complaint indicate a one-time negligent administration by State employees in their maintenance of the registry. Such allegations cannot form the basis of a constitutional tort.

**C. The Court of Appeals properly applied binding precedent to determine that there was no direct link between the State’s actions and the alleged constitutional violation.**

The Court of Appeals faithfully applied *Canton* and *Bryan Co* to Hart’s claims, holding that because Hart only alleged a failure to train, supervise or discipline employees, Hart was required to show the State acted with deliberate indifference to his constitutional rights. (App p 137a–139a, at 6–8.) Because Hart did not allege a pattern of similar constitutional violations, he was required to plead and establish that there was “a high degree of predictability” that he would be arrested and prosecuted for his failure to register as a sex offender as a result of the State’s failure to properly train and supervise employees regarding maintenance of

the state sex offender registry. (App p 138a–139a, at 7–8.) In other words, Hart was required to plead facts demonstrating that it was so “patently obvious” that the state policies were so constitutionally deficient that the State knew “to a moral certainty” that Hart’s rights would be violated. *Id.* Without this “direct and obvious causal link between the failure to train” and the deprivation of his rights, Hart cannot maintain a constitutional tort claim. *Id.*

In analyzing whether Hart had adequately pleaded facts in support of a finding of deliberate indifference, the court found that “the alleged failure to train MSP employees in this SORA context does not carry the [] obvious or clear dangers of a constitutional violation” as required by *Canton* and *Bryan Co.* (App p 137a–140a, at 6–9.) Therefore, the court below concluded that it is not “a moral certainty” or patently obvious that people on the SOR will fail to keep the SOR updated and be arrested as a result. (App p 139a, at 8.) Thus, “because of this lack of a ‘high degree of predictability’ and a lack of direct causation of a constitutional violation,” the court held that Hart had failed to allege facts sufficient to establish a constitutional tort claim. (App p 139a–140a, at 8–9.)

In fact, the Court of Appeals noted that, for a constitutional violation to result, “the person also would have to be unaware of the change in the law and fail to take any step to be removed from the SOR.” (App p 139a, at 8 n 6). In other words, the Court found that, because a person erroneously listed on the registry could have become aware of the 2011 change in law and taken steps to be removed from the list, there was not a “direct causation” between the State’s alleged failure

to train and any constitutional violation resulting from being listed on the registry. *Id.*, citing *Bryan Co* 520 US at 409 and *Connick v Thompson*, 563 US 51, 60 (2011).

This was a proper determination by the Court of Appeals based on United States Supreme Court precedent, and Hart has offered no persuasive argument to the contrary. Even if the State was “morally certain” to have a “highly flawed” registry rooted in the failure to train and supervise employees, there would still be no “moral certainty” that Hart would be arrested and prosecuted as a result of the “highly flawed” registry. This is precisely what the Court of Appeals considered—whether there was a link between the State’s failure to train and Hart’s ultimate arrest and prosecution—and it determined that there was no direct and obvious causal link. Without this necessary causal link, there can be no deliberate indifference, and therefore no constitutional violation.

To prove deliberate indifference, Hart must show that the State was on notice that, absent additional specified training, it was “highly predictable” that Hart would be arrest and prosecuted. In fact, Hart had to show that it was so predictable that failing to train State employees regarding maintenance of the sex offender registry amounted to conscious disregard for Hart’s constitutional rights. See *Bryan Co* at 409; *Canton*, at 389. Hart cannot and did not do so.

Indeed, there were several events between the alleged policy leading to Hart’s improper placement on the registry and his injury. First, Hart engaged in conduct in violation of SORA. Then, the local prosecutor made the decision to charge Hart

with a crime for his violation. After that, apparently on the advice of counsel, Hart pleaded guilty to the violations.

The facts alleged do not demonstrate that it was a moral certainty that Hart's improper placement on the registry would later result in his arrest and prosecution. The arrest and prosecution could only happen upon the happening of several other circumstances. It is entirely conceivable that Hart could have continued to be improperly listed on the registry for years without an arrest or prosecution, had he continued to meet his registration obligations. It also conceivable that could have failed to meet his registration obligations, yet never been charged with a crime in the discretion of the local prosecutor. It is also imaginable that Hart could have failed to meet his registration obligations, been charged with a crime, but then contested the charges with the assistance of counsel and discovered that it was legally impossible for him to have committed the crime. Hart's injury and the alleged failure to train are simply too attenuated to give rise to the State's liability under the standards of *Canton* and *Bryan Co.* Thus, Hart's new arguments in this Court add nothing to the analysis and would not result in a different disposition.<sup>2</sup>

---

<sup>2</sup> And, regardless, Hart is not entitled to relief on his constitutional tort claims because he has an alternative remedy—a § 1983 action. In fact, Hart has taken advantage of that alternative remedy and filed a suit against the individual employees and officers involved, *Hart v County of Hillsdale, et al*, Eastern District of Michigan Case No 16-10253, which currently is pending.

**D. Being listed on the sex offender registry is not a constitutional injury in and of itself.**

The Court of Appeals properly determined that Hart could not establish a constitutional tort claim because there was no direct causal link between the State's action and the alleged constitutional violation—being illegally arrested and prosecuted. (App p 137a–140a, at 6–9.) Indeed, the *only* constitutional violations alleged in Hart's complaint involved the arrest and prosecution that resulted from the State's alleged failure to train and supervise employees.

In the preliminary statement in his complaint, the only facts that Hart indicated amounted to a constitutional violation was the State's actions that resulted in the *false arrest and malicious prosecution* of Hart. (App p 3a, ¶3) (emphasis added). Then, when arguing to the Court of Appeals that inadequate training could amount to a constitutional tort claim, Hart pointed to the substance of his claims: "Defendant had actual notice that said law enforcement officials were likely to *engage in arrests and initiate prosecutions* for alleged SORA violations." (App p 117a,) (emphasis added). But there is no direct and causal link between the alleged policy of the State and Hart's arrest or prosecution.

Hart now claims that the Court of Appeals should have considered a different alleged constitutional violation from his arrest and prosecution—Hart's incorrect status as a listed sex offender. But Hart's constitutional tort claim was not premised on that alleged constitutional violation, until now. Nowhere else—not in his complaint, his briefing before the Court of Claims, or his brief to the Court of Appeals—did Hart mention an alleged constitutional violation for being listed on

the registry. Hart has not explained why the Court of Appeals should have considered this alternative basis for relief in its analysis. Nor can he. The Court of Appeals cannot have considered an argument that was not properly preserved and presented. In short, Hart has abandoned the issue. See *Steward v Panek*, 251 Mich App 546, 558 (2002) (holding that plaintiffs abandoned an issue by failing to brief it on appeal).

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